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Safe Harbor Cautionary Statement

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such statements may be signified by terms such as “aim,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “expect,” “feel,” “intend,” “estimate,” “seek,” “plan,” “may,” “can,” “could,” “should,” “will,” “would” or similar expressions and
the negatives of those terms. In this report, forward-looking statements include statements regarding our financial projections, future financial performance
and plans and objectives for future operations including, without limitation, the following:

• expectations regarding our financial condition and results of operations, including revenue, revenue growth, revenue mix, cost of revenue, operating
expenses, operating income, non-GAAP operating income, non-GAAP operating margin, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin, cash flows
and effective income tax rate;

• expectations regarding the impact of foreign exchange rates and macroeconomic conditions on our business;

• expectations regarding investment in product development and our expectations about the results of those efforts;

• expectations concerning acquisitions and opportunities resulting from our acquisitions;

• expectations regarding hiring additional personnel globally in the areas of sales and marketing and research and development;

• intentions regarding our international earnings;

• expectations regarding our capital expenditures;

• our beliefs regarding the sufficiency of our cash and cash equivalents, cash flows from operating activities and borrowing capacity; and

• expectations regarding our spin-off from SolarWinds Corporation (“SolarWinds”) into a newly created and separately traded public company.

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or
achievements to be materially and adversely different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking
statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, the following:

• risks related to our spin-off from SolarWinds into a newly created and separately-traded public company, including that the spin-off may not achieve
some or all of any anticipated benefits with respect to our business; that the distribution, together with certain related transactions, may not qualify as a
transaction that is generally tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which could result in N-able incurring significant tax liabilities, and, in certain
circumstances, requiring us to indemnify SolarWinds for material taxes and other related amounts pursuant to indemnification obligations under the tax
matters agreement;

• the impact of adverse economic conditions;

• our ability to sell subscriptions to new managed service provider (“MSP”) partners, to sell additional solutions to our existing MSP partners and to
increase the usage of our solutions by our existing MSP partners, as well as our ability to generate and maintain MSP partner loyalty;

• any decline in our renewal or net retention rates;

• the possibility that general economic conditions or uncertainty may cause information technology spending to be reduced or purchasing decisions to be
delayed, including as a result of inflation, actions taken by central banks to counter inflation, rising interest rates, war and political unrest, military conflict
(including between Russia and Ukraine and in the Middle East), terrorism, sanctions or other geopolitical events globally, or that such factors may
otherwise harm our business, financial condition or results of operations;

• any inability to generate significant volumes of high-quality sales leads from our digital marketing initiatives and convert such leads into new business at
acceptable conversion rates;

• any inability to successfully identify, complete and integrate acquisitions and manage our growth effectively;

• any inability to resell third-party software or integrate third-party software into our solutions, or find suitable replacements for such third-party software;

• risks associated with our international operations;
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• foreign exchange gains and losses related to expenses and sales denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of an associated entity;

• risks that cyberattacks, including the cyberattack on SolarWinds’ Orion Software Platform and internal systems announced by SolarWinds in December
2020 (the “Cyber Incident”), and other security incidents may result in compromises or breaches of our, our MSP partners’, or their SME customers’
systems, the insertion of malicious code, malware, ransomware or other vulnerabilities into our, our MSP partners’, or their SME customers’
environments, the exploitation of vulnerabilities in our, our MSP partners’, or their SME customers’ security, the theft or misappropriation of our, our
MSP partners’, or their SME customers’ proprietary and confidential information, and interference with our, our MSP partners’, or their SME customers’
operations, exposure to legal and other liabilities, higher MSP partner and employee attrition and the loss of key personnel, negative impacts to our
sales, renewals and upgrades and reputational harm and other serious negative consequences, any or all of which could materially harm our business;

• our status as a controlled company;

• our ability to attract and retain qualified employees and key personnel;

• the timing and success of new product introductions and product upgrades by us or our competitors;

• our ability to protect and defend our intellectual property and not infringe upon others’ intellectual property;

• the possibility that our operating income could fluctuate and may decline as a percentage of revenue as we make further expenditures to expand our
operations in order to support additional growth in our business;

• our indebtedness, including increased borrowing costs resulting from rising interest rates, potential restrictions on our operations and the impact of
events of default;

• our ability to operate our business internationally and increase sales of our solutions to our MSP partners located outside of the United States; and

• such other risks and uncertainties described more fully in documents filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission, including the
risk factors described in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Given these risks and uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Also, forward-looking statements
represent our management’s beliefs and assumptions only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Except as required by law, we assume no
obligation to update these forward-looking statements publicly, or to update the reasons actual results could differ materially and adversely from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available in the future.

In this report “N-able,” “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to N-able, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, and references to “SolarWinds” and
“Parent” refer to SolarWinds Corporation.
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PART I: FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

N-able, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

September 30, December 31,

2024 2023

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 174,445 $ 153,048

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $1,099 and $1,171 as of September 30, 2024 and December 31,

2023, respectively 39,626 40,013

Income tax receivable 14,897 8,001

Recoverable taxes 21,907 12,116

Current contract assets 16,020 1,124

Prepaid and other current assets 15,382 10,489

Total current assets 282,277 224,791

Property and equipment, net 34,514 36,838

Operating lease right-of-use assets 29,732 32,067

Deferred taxes 1,066 1,087

Goodwill 843,884 838,497

Intangible assets, net 5,379 6,717

Other assets, net 26,606 22,794

Total assets $ 1,223,458 $ 1,162,791

Liabilities and stockholders' equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 6,530 $ 5,239

Accrued liabilities and other 46,472 49,366

Current operating lease liabilities 6,116 6,443

Income taxes payable 20,234 4,523

Current portion of deferred revenue 10,926 12,646

Current debt obligation 3,500 3,500

Total current liabilities 93,778 81,717

Long-term liabilities:

Deferred revenue, net of current portion 244 167

Non-current deferred taxes 1,885 1,820

Non-current operating lease liabilities 32,177 33,064

Long-term debt, net of current portion 330,081 331,509

Other long-term liabilities 342 3,154

Total liabilities 458,507 451,431

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)

Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $0.001 par value: 550,000,000 shares authorized and 185,747,109 and 183,220,689 shares

issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively 186 183

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value: 50,000,000 shares authorized and no shares issued and outstanding as

of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively — —

Additional paid-in capital 686,072 666,522

Accumulated other comprehensive income 10,779 4,409

Retained earnings 67,914 40,246

Total stockholders' equity 764,951 711,360

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 1,223,458 $ 1,162,791

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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N-able, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share information)

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Revenue:

Subscription and other revenue $ 116,442 $ 107,567 $ 349,638 $ 313,465

Cost of revenue:

Cost of revenue 19,433 16,893 55,975 49,205

Amortization of acquired technologies 467 463 1,386 1,382

Total cost of revenue 19,900 17,356 57,361 50,587

Gross profit 96,542 90,211 292,277 262,878

Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 32,294 33,660 100,960 101,112

Research and development 22,995 19,752 67,468 58,796

General and administrative 17,330 18,438 57,427 53,877

Amortization of acquired intangibles 15 11 44 585

Total operating expenses 72,634 71,861 225,899 214,370

Operating income 23,908 18,350 66,378 48,508

Other expense:

Interest expense, net (7,535) (7,802) (22,762) (22,532

Other income (expense), net 2,269 (423) 3,696 1,569

Total other expense, net (5,266) (8,225) (19,066) (20,963

Income before income taxes 18,642 10,125 47,312 27,545

Income tax expense 7,885 4,112 19,644 13,484

Net income $ 10,757 $ 6,013 $ 27,668 $ 14,061

Net income per share:

    Basic earnings per share $ 0.06 $ 0.03 $ 0.15 $ 0.08

    Diluted earnings per share $ 0.06 $ 0.03 $ 0.15 $ 0.08

Weighted-average shares used to compute net income per
share:

    Shares used in computation of basic earnings per share: 185,506 182,710 184,840 182,135

    Shares used in computation of diluted earnings per share: 188,074 186,221 188,039 185,506

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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N-able, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Net income $ 10,757 $ 6,013 $ 27,668 $ 14,061 

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustment 19,800 (10,575) 6,370 (6,105)

Other comprehensive income (loss) 19,800 (10,575) 6,370 (6,105)

Comprehensive income $ 30,557 $ (4,562) $ 34,038 $ 7,956 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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N-able, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2024

Common Stock

Shares Amount
Additional Paid-
in Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
(Loss) Income

Retained
Earnings Total

Balance as of June 30, 2024 185,233 $ 185 $ 676,049 $ (9,021) $ 57,157 $ 724,370

Net income — — — — 10,757 10,757

Foreign currency translation
adjustment — — — 19,800 — 19,800

Exercise of stock options 9 — 4 — — 

Restricted stock units issued,
net of shares withheld for taxes 396 1 (2,826) — — (2,825

Issuance of stock under
employee stock purchase plan 109 — 1,182 — — 1,182

Stock-based compensation — — 11,663 — — 11,663

Balance as of September 30,
2024 185,747 $ 186 $ 686,072 $ 10,779 $ 67,914 $ 764,951

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024

Common Stock

Shares Amount
Additional Paid-

in Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

Retained
Earnings Total

Balance as of December 31, 2023 183,221 $ 183 $ 666,522 $ 4,409 $ 40,246 $ 711,360 

Net income — — — — 27,668 27,668 

Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — 6,370 — 6,370 

Exercise of stock options 28 — 12 — — 12 

Restricted stock units issued, net of shares
withheld for taxes 2,285 3 (18,164) — — (18,161)

Issuance of stock under employee stock
purchase plan 214 — 2,382 $ — — 2,382 

Stock-based compensation — — 35,320 — — 35,320 

Balance as of September 30, 2024 185,747 $ 186 $ 686,072 $ 10,779 $ 67,914 $ 764,951 
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N-able, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2023

Common Stock

Shares Amount
Additional Paid-
in Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive Loss
Retained

Earnings Total

Balance as of June 30, 2023 182,471 $ 182 $ 647,188 $ (3,345) $ 24,882 $ 668,907

Net income — — — — 6,013 6,013

Foreign currency translation
adjustment — — — (10,575) — (10,575

Exercise of stock options 14 — 46 — — 46

Restricted stock units issued,
net of shares withheld for taxes 328 1 (1,988) — — (1,987

Issuance of stock — — — — — —

Issuance of stock under
employee stock purchase plan 106 — 910 — — 910

Stock-based compensation — — 11,366 — — 11,366

Balance as of September 30,
2023 182,919 $ 183 $ 657,522 $ (13,920) $ 30,895 $ 674,680

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023

Common Stock

Shares Amount
Additional Paid-

in Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Retained
Earnings Total

Balance as of December 31, 2022 180,850 $ 181 $ 632,871 $ (7,815) $ 16,834 $ 642,071 

Net income — — — — 14,061 14,061 

Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — (6,105) — (6,105)

Exercise of stock options 50 — 72 — — 72 

Restricted stock units issued, net of shares
withheld for taxes 1,822 2 (10,228) — — (10,226)

Issuance of stock 3 — — — — — 

Issuance of stock under employee stock
purchase plan 194 — 1,681 $ — — 1,681 

Stock-based compensation — — 33,126 — — 33,126 

Balance as of September 30, 2023 182,919 $ 183 $ 657,522 $ (13,920) $ 30,895 $ 674,680 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

9



N-able, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income $ 27,668 $ 14,061 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 17,777 16,142 

(Benefit from) provision for doubtful accounts (72) 387 

Stock-based compensation expense 34,863 32,893 

Deferred taxes 89 (20)

Amortization of debt issuance costs 1,198 1,197 

Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 52 (1,050)

Loss on foreign currency exchange rates 693 2,137 

Gain on contingent consideration (3,711) (958)

Loss on lease modification 1,059 — 

Other non-cash expenses (16) 128 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations:

Accounts receivable (841) (6,121)

Income tax receivable (6,888) (8,874)

Recoverable taxes (9,738) (6,759)

Current contract assets (14,896) (477)

Prepaid expenses and other assets (4,731) (785)

Accounts payable 1,151 382 

Accrued liabilities and other (1,807) 8,684 

Income taxes payable 15,893 9,491 

Deferred revenue (1,642) (443)

Other long-term assets (2,618) (1,206)

Other long-term liabilities (32) 60 

Net cash provided by operating activities 53,451 58,869 

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property and equipment (10,420) (10,487)

Purchases of intangible assets (5,166) (6,675)

Net cash used in investing activities (15,586) (17,162)

Cash flows from financing activities

Payments of tax withholding obligations related to restricted stock units (18,165) (10,228)

Exercise of stock options 12 72 

Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan 2,382 1,681 

Deferred acquisition payments (1,000) (850)

Repayments of borrowings from Credit Agreement (2,625) (2,625)

Net cash used in financing activities (19,396) (11,950)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2,928 (1,171)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 21,397 28,586 

Cash and cash equivalents

Beginning of period 153,048 98,847 

End of period $ 174,445 $ 127,433 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest $ 21,760 $ 21,119 

Cash paid for income taxes $ 8,162 $ 11,046 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:

Change in purchases of property, equipment and leasehold improvements included in accounts payable and accrued

expenses $ 2 $ (553)

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities $ 2,628 $ 2,318 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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N-able, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

1. Organization and Nature of Operations

Description of Business

N-able, Inc., a Delaware corporation, together with its subsidiaries is a leading global provider of cloud-based software solutions for MSPs, enabling
them to support digital transformation and growth for small and medium-sized enterprises (“SMEs”), which we define as those enterprises having fewer than
1,000 employees. With a flexible technology platform and powerful integrations, N-able makes it easy for MSPs to monitor, manage, and protect their end-
customer systems, data, and networks. Our growing portfolio of security, automation, and backup and recovery solutions is built for IT services management
professionals. N-able simplifies complex ecosystems and enables customers to solve their most pressing challenges. In addition, we provide extensive,
proactive support—through enriching partner programs, hands-on training, and growth resources—to help MSPs deliver exceptional value and achieve
success at scale. Through our multi-dimensional land and expand model and global presence, we are able to drive strong recurring revenue growth and
profitability.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

Our interim Consolidated Financial Statements do not include all of the information and footnotes required by United States of America generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for complete financial statements. The interim financial information is unaudited, but reflects all normal
adjustments that are, in our opinion, necessary to provide a fair statement of results for the interim periods presented. This interim information should be
read in conjunction with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, referred
to as our “2023 Annual Report.”

Use of Estimates

The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts and the disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporting periods. The actual results that we experience may differ materially from our estimates. The accounting estimates that require our most
significant, difficult and/or subjective judgments include:

• the valuation of goodwill, intangibles, long-lived assets and contingent consideration;

• revenue recognition; and

• income taxes.
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N-able, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2021, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2021-08, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract
Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers,” which requires an entity to recognize and measure contract assets and contract liabilities
acquired in a business combination in accordance with ASC 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” instead of at fair value on the acquisition date
as previously required by ASC 805, “Business Combinations.” The amendments improve comparability after the business combination by providing
consistent recognition and measurement guidance for acquired revenue contracts and revenue contracts not acquired in a business combination. The
updated guidance is effective for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, and early adoption is permitted. The updated
guidance will be applied prospectively to business combinations occurring during or after the fiscal year of adoption. We adopted this standard as of January
1, 2023. The adoption of the standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on
Financial Reporting,” which provides temporary optional expedients and exceptions to the existing guidance on contract modifications and hedge accounting
to ease the financial reporting burdens related to reference rate reform. The standard became effective upon issuance and may be applied to any new or
amended contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions that reference the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) through December 31, 2022.
In December 2022, the FASB issued ASU No. 2022-06, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848,” extending the
sunset date of the relief provided under ASU No. 2020-04 to December 31, 2024. During the three months ended September 30, 2023, the effective interest
rate on outstanding debt under our credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase, Bank, N.A. (the “Credit Agreement”) transitioned from a LIBOR-based rate to a
Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”)-based rate. The transition did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements, and no
remaining contracts, hedging relationships, or other transactions reference LIBOR as of September 30, 2023. See Note 8. Debt for further details regarding
the Credit Agreement

Money Market Fund Financial Assets

As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we have money market fund financial assets of $ 128.0 million and $98.6 million, respectively, which
are included in “cash and cash equivalents” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. See “Fair Value Measurements” below and  Note 6. Fair Value
Measurements for further details regarding the fair value measurements of our money market fund financial assets.

Fair Value Measurements

We apply the authoritative guidance on fair value measurements for financial assets and liabilities, such as our money market fund financial assets and
contingent consideration liabilities, that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and non-financial assets and liabilities, such as goodwill, intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis.

The guidance establishes a three-tiered fair value hierarchy that prioritizes inputs to valuation techniques used in fair value calculations. The three
levels of inputs are defined as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets accessible by us.

Level 2: Inputs that are observable in the marketplace other than those inputs classified as Level 1.

Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable in the marketplace and significant to the valuation.

The carrying amounts reported in our Consolidated Balance Sheets for cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and other accrued expenses
approximate fair value due to relatively short periods to maturity. See Note 6. Fair Value Measurements for a summary of our financial instruments
accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the
carrying value of our outstanding debt approximates its estimated fair value as the interest rate on the debt is adjusted for changes in market rates. See
Note 8. Debt for further details regarding our debt.
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N-able, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income by component are summarized below:

Foreign Currency
Translation Adjustments

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income

(in thousands)

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 4,409 $ 4,409

Other comprehensive income before reclassification 6,370 6,370

Net current period other comprehensive income 6,370 6,370

Balance as of September 30, 2024 $ 10,779 $ 10,779

Revenue

Our revenue consists of the following:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

(in thousands)

Subscription revenue $ 114,998 $ 105,208 $ 343,928 $ 306,005

Other revenue 1,444 2,359 5,710 7,460

Total subscription and other revenue $ 116,442 $ 107,567 $ 349,638 $ 313,465

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, we recognized the following revenue from subscription and other
services at a point in time and over time:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

(in thousands)

Revenue recognized at a point in time $ 15,225 $ 10,937 $ 51,549 $ 41,709

Revenue recognized over time 101,217 96,630 298,089 271,756

Total revenue recognized $ 116,442 $ 107,567 $ 349,638 $ 313,465

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue primarily consists of transaction prices allocated to remaining performance obligations from annually billed subscription agreements
and maintenance services associated with our historical sales of perpetual license products which are delivered over time. Certain of our maintenance
agreements are billed annually in advance for services to be performed over a 12-month period. We initially record the amounts allocated to maintenance
performance obligations as deferred revenue and recognize these amounts ratably on a daily basis over the term of the maintenance agreement.

The following table reflects the changes in our total deferred revenue balance for the nine months ended September 30, 2024:

Total Deferred Revenue

(in thousands)

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 12,813

Deferred revenue recognized (14,846

Additional amounts deferred 13,203

Balance as of September 30, 2024 $ 11,170

We expect to recognize revenue related to remaining performance obligations as of September 30, 2024, as follows:
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N-able, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Revenue Recognition Expected by Period

Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years More than 3 years

(in thousands)

Expected recognition of remaining performance obligations $ 193,403 $ 119,801 $ 73,602 $ — 

Cost of Revenue

Amortization of Acquired Technologies. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, amortization of acquired
technologies included in cost of revenue relate to our subscription products as follows:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

(in thousands)

Amortization of acquired technologies $ 467 $ 463 $ 1,386 $ 1,382

3. Acquisitions

On July 1, 2022, we completed the acquisition of all the outstanding equity of Spinpanel B.V. (“Spinpanel”) for a total consideration of up to
approximately $20.0 million, including up to $10.0 million payable upon the achievement of certain revenue metrics through July 1, 2025. We funded the
transaction with cash on hand. Goodwill and acquired identifiable intangible assets for this acquisition are not deductible for tax purposes. During the three
months ended March 31, 2023, a measurement period adjustment of $1.6 million was recorded to non-current deferred tax liabilities and goodwill. The
measurement period concluded as of June 30, 2023.

The following table summarizes the amounts recognized for the assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

(in thousands)

Current assets, including cash acquired of $6 $ 128 

Property and equipment, net 48 

Current liabilities (1,199)

Non-current deferred tax liabilities (764)

Identifiable intangible assets

Developed technology 8,890 

Customer relationships 80 

Goodwill 7,176 

Total assets acquired, net $ 14,359 

The following table summarizes the total consideration for the assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

(in thousands)

Cash paid, net of cash acquired of $6 $ 9,199 

Contingent consideration 5,160 

Total consideration, net $ 14,359 

The following table summarizes the fair value of the acquired identifiable intangible assets and weighted-average useful life by category:

Fair Value Weighted-Average Useful Life

(in thousands) (in years)

Developed technology $ 8,890 5

Customer relationships 80 3

Total identifiable intangible assets $ 8,970 

The results of operations related to Spinpanel since the acquisition date are included in our Consolidated Financial Statements during the three months
ended September 30, 2024 and 2023. As noted above, total consideration includes up to $10.0 million payable upon the achievement of certain revenue
metrics through July 1, 2025. The contingent consideration
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liability is re-evaluated at least quarterly, with the resulting gains and losses recognized within general and administrative expense in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations. The fair value of this contingent consideration was $5.2 million at the date of acquisition and $ 3.7 million as of December 31,
2023. As of September 30, 2024, there is no remaining contingent consideration liability. We recognized a gain of $ 2.4 million and $0.6 million on the
contingent consideration for the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and a gain of $3.7 million and $1.0 million on the
contingent consideration for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The contingent consideration liability of $3.7 million as of
December 31, 2023 is included in “other long-term liabilities” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 6. Fair Value Measurements, Note 7. Accrued
Liabilities and Other, and Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies for further details regarding our contingent consideration liabilities.

Pro forma information for the acquisition has not been provided because the impact of the historical financials on our revenue, net income and net
income per share is not material. We recognize revenue on the acquired products in accordance with our revenue recognition policy as described in Note 2.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

4. Goodwill

The following table reflects the changes in goodwill for the nine months ended September 30, 2024:

(in thousands)

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 838,497

Foreign currency translation 5,387

Balance as of September 30, 2024 $ 843,884

5. Relationship with Parent and Related Entities

On August 6, 2020, SolarWinds Corporation (“SolarWinds” or “Parent”) announced that its board of directors had authorized management to explore a
potential spin-off of its MSP business into our company, a newly created and separately traded public company, and separate into two distinct, publicly
traded companies (the “Separation”). On July 19, 2021, SolarWinds completed the Separation through a pro-rata distribution (the “Distribution”) of all the
outstanding shares of our common stock it held to the stockholders of record of SolarWinds as of the close of business on July 12, 2021. As a result of the
Distribution, we became an independent public company and our common stock is listed under the symbol “NABL” on the New York Stock Exchange.

Equity-Based Incentive Plans

Prior to the Separation and Distribution, certain of our employees participated in Parent’s equity-based incentive plans. Under the SolarWinds
Corporation 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”), our employees, consultants, directors, managers and advisors were awarded stock-based
incentive awards in a number of forms, including non-qualified stock options. The ability to grant any future equity awards under the 2016 Plan terminated in
October 2018. Under the SolarWinds Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, our employees were eligible to be awarded stock-based incentive awards,
including non-statutory stock options or incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance stock units
and other cash-based or share-based awards. Awards granted to our employees under the Parent incentive plans generally vested over periods ranging
from one to five years. We measure stock-based compensation for all stock-based incentive awards at fair value on the grant date. Stock-based
compensation expense is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards.

In connection with the Separation and Distribution, all of the vested and outstanding and unvested SolarWinds equity awards held by our employees
were converted to N-able awards (the “Conversion”). The modification of these equity awards resulted in incremental compensation expense to the extent
the estimated fair value of the awards immediately following the modification exceeded the estimated fair value of the awards immediately prior to the
modification. This expense is to be recognized upfront for all vested and outstanding awards and over the remaining vesting term for all unvested awards.
For the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, we recognized less than $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively, of incremental expense in
connection with the Conversion. For the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, we recognized $0.2 million and $0.8 million, respectively, of
incremental expense in connection with the Conversion. We include stock-based compensation expense in operating expense (general and administrative,
sales and marketing and research and development) and cost of revenue on our Consolidated Statements of Operations, depending on the nature of the
employee’s role in our operations.

Agreements with SolarWinds
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In connection with the completion of the Separation and Distribution on July 19, 2021, we entered into several agreements with SolarWinds that, among
other things, provide a framework for our relationship with SolarWinds after the Separation and Distribution. The following summarizes some of the most
significant agreements and relationships with SolarWinds.

Separation and Distribution Agreement

The Separation and Distribution Agreement sets forth our agreements with SolarWinds regarding the principal actions taken in connection with the
Separation and Distribution. It also sets forth other agreements that govern aspects of our relationship with SolarWinds following the Separation and
Distribution, including (i) the manner in which legal matters and claims are allocated and certain liabilities are shared between N-able and SolarWinds; (ii)
other matters including transfers of assets and liabilities, treatment or termination of intercompany arrangements and the settlement or extinguishment of
certain liabilities and other obligations between N-able and SolarWinds; and (iii) mutual indemnification clauses. The Separation and Distribution Agreement
also provides that SolarWinds will be liable and obligated to indemnify us for all liabilities based upon, arising out of, or relating to the Cyber Incident other
than certain specified expenses for which we will be responsible. The term of the Separation and Distribution Agreement is indefinite and it may only be
terminated with the prior written consent of both N-able and SolarWinds.

Tax Matters Agreement

We entered into a Tax Matters Agreement with SolarWinds that governs the parties’ respective rights, responsibilities and obligations with respect to tax
liabilities and benefits, tax attributes, the preparation and filing of tax returns, the control of audits and other tax proceedings and other matters regarding
taxes. Costs incurred under the Tax Matters Agreement were insignificant during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

Software OEM Agreements

We entered into Software OEM Agreements with SolarWinds pursuant to which SolarWinds granted to N-able, and N-able granted to SolarWinds, a
non-exclusive and royalty-bearing license to market, advertise, distribute and sublicense certain SolarWinds and N-able software products, respectively, to
customers on a worldwide basis. Each agreement had a two-year term, and each agreement was renewed for an additional two-year term during the year
ended December 31, 2023. We earned $0.5 million of revenue during the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and incurred
less than $0.1 million and $0.1 million of costs during the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, under the Software OEM
Agreements. We earned $1.4 million and $1.3 million of revenue during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and incurred
$0.1 million and $0.2 million of costs during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, under the Software OEM Agreements.

Employee Matters Agreement

We entered into an Employee Matters Agreement with SolarWinds that governs N-able's and SolarWinds’ compensation and employee benefit
obligations with respect to the employees and other service providers of each company, and generally allocated liabilities and responsibilities relating to
employment matters and employee compensation and benefit plans and programs. Costs incurred under the Employee Matters Agreement were
insignificant during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Intellectual Property Matters Agreement

We entered into an Intellectual Property Matters Agreement with SolarWinds pursuant to which each party granted to the other party a generally
irrevocable, non-exclusive, worldwide, and royalty-free license to use certain intellectual property rights retained by the other party. Under the Intellectual
Property Matters Agreement, the term for the licensed or sublicensed know-how is perpetual and the term for each licensed or sublicensed patent is until
expiration of the last valid claim of such patent. The Intellectual Property Matters Agreement will terminate only if N-able and SolarWinds agree in writing to
terminate it. Costs incurred under the Intellectual Property Matters Agreement were insignificant during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2024 and 2023, respectively.

Trademark License Agreement

We entered into a Trademark License Agreement with SolarWinds pursuant to which SolarWinds granted to N-able a generally limited, worldwide, non-
exclusive and royalty-free license to use certain trademarks retained by SolarWinds that were used by SolarWinds in the conduct of its business prior to the
Separation and Distribution. The Trademark License Agreement will terminate once we cease to use all of the licensed trademarks. Costs incurred under
the Trademark License Agreement were insignificant during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Software Cross License Agreement

We entered into a Software Cross License Agreement with SolarWinds pursuant to which each party granted to the other party a generally perpetual,
irrevocable, non-exclusive, worldwide and, subject to certain exceptions, royalty-free license to certain software libraries and internal tools for limited uses.
The term of the Software Cross License Agreement will be perpetual unless N-able and SolarWinds agree in writing to terminate the agreement. We earned
less than $0.1 million of
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revenue during the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and incurred less than $ 0.1 million and $0.1 million of costs during the
three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, under the Software Cross License Agreement. We earned $ 0.1 million of revenue during
the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and incurred $0.1 million and $0.2 million of costs during the nine months ended
September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, under the Software Cross License Agreement.

6. Fair Value Measurements

The following tables summarize the fair value of our money market fund financial assets and contingent consideration financial liabilities that were
measured on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023. See Note 3. Acquisitions and Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies
for further details regarding our contingent consideration liabilities. There have been no transfers between fair value measurement levels during the nine
months ended September 30, 2024.

Fair Value Measurements as of
September 30, 2024 Using

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total

(in thousands)

Assets:

Money market funds $ 128,007 $ — $ — $ 128,007 

Fair Value Measurements as of
December 31, 2023 Using

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total

(in thousands)

Assets:

Money market funds $ 98,560 $ — $ — $ 98,560 

Liabilities:

Contingent consideration $ — $ — $ 3,650 $ 3,650 

As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the carrying value of our outstanding debt approximates its estimated fair value as the interest rate
on the debt is adjusted for changes in market rates. See Note 8. Debt for further details regarding our debt.

7. Accrued Liabilities and Other

Accrued and other current liabilities were as follows:

September 30, December 31,

2024 2023

(in thousands)

Payroll-related accruals $ 21,772 $ 26,788 

Value-added and other tax 9,179 8,976 

Purchasing accruals 4,049 3,330 

Accrued professional fees 3,347 1,150 

Accrued royalties 1,998 2,550 

Accrued contingent consideration liability — 1,800 

Accrued other liabilities 6,127 4,772 

Total accrued liabilities and other $ 46,472 $ 49,366 
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8. Debt

In connection with the Separation and Distribution, on July 19, 2021, certain subsidiaries of the Company, including N-able International Holdings I, Inc.
(as guarantor) and N-able International Holdings II, Inc. (as borrower), entered into the Credit Agreement with JPMorgan Chase, Bank, N.A. as
administrative agent and collateral agent and the lenders from time to time party thereto. N-able International Holdings I, Inc. is a holding company with no
other operations, cash flows, material assets or liabilities other than the equity interests in N-able International Holdings II, Inc. The Credit Agreement
provides for $410.0 million of first lien secured credit facilities (the “Credit Facilities”), consisting of a $ 60.0 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving
Facility”), and a $350.0 million term loan facility (the “Term Loan”). On July 19, 2021, prior to the completion of the Distribution, the Company distributed
approximately $16.5 million, representing a portion of the proceeds from the Term Loan, net of the repayment of related party debt due to SolarWinds
Holdings, Inc., payment of intercompany trade payables, and fees and other transaction related expenses, to SolarWinds. The Revolving Facility will
primarily be available for general corporate purposes.

The following table summarizes information relating to our outstanding debt as of September 30, 2024:

Amount Outstanding Effective Rate

(in thousands, except interest rates)

Term loan facility $ 339,500 8.07 

Revolving credit facility — — 

Total principal amount 339,500 

Unamortized discount and debt issuance costs (5,919)

Total debt, net 333,581 

Less: Current debt obligation (3,500)

Long-term debt, net of current portion $ 330,081 

Under the Credit Agreement, borrowings denominated in U.S. dollars under the Revolving Facility bore interest at a floating rate of an Adjusted LIBOR
rate (subject to a “floor” of 0.0%) for a specified interest period plus an applicable margin of 3.00%, until the LIBOR-based rate was replaced, as described
below. Under the Credit Agreement, borrowings denominated in Euros under the Revolving Facility bear interest at a floating rate of an Adjusted Euro
Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”) rate (subject to a “floor” of 0.0%) for a specified interest period plus an applicable margin of 3.00%. Under the Credit
Agreement, borrowings under the Term Loan bore interest at a floating rate of an Adjusted LIBOR rate (subject to a “floor” of 0.5%) for a specified interest
period plus an applicable margin of 3.00%, until the LIBOR-based rate was replaced, as described below. Each margin is subject to reductions to 2.75% and
1.75%, respectively, based on our first lien net leverage ratio.

On June 26, 2023, the parties entered into Amendment No. 1 (“Amendment No. 1”) to the Credit Agreement. Amendment No. 1 amended the Credit
Agreement to, among other things, replace the LIBOR-based rate included in the Credit Agreement with a SOFR-based rate, as an interest rate benchmark.
Other than the foregoing, the material terms of the Credit Agreement described herein remain unchanged. The effective interest rate on our outstanding
debt remained as a LIBOR-based rate until August 31, 2023, at which point it transitioned to a SOFR-based rate. As of September 30, 2024, the effective
interest rate on our outstanding debt is 8.07%.

In addition to paying interest on loans outstanding under the Revolving Facility, we are required to pay a commitment fee of 0.375% per annum in
respect of unused commitments thereunder, subject to a reduction to 0.25% per annum based on our first lien net leverage ratio.

The Term Loan requires quarterly repayments equal to 0.25% of the original principal amount, commencing in December 2021 through June 2028. The
final maturity dates of the Revolving Facility and Term Loan are July 18, 2026 and July 18, 2028, respectively.

The Credit Agreement contains a number of covenants that, among other things, restrict, subject to certain exceptions, our ability to: incur additional
indebtedness; create liens; engage in mergers or consolidations; sell or transfer assets; pay dividends and distributions or repurchase our capital stock;
make investments, loans or advances; prepay certain junior indebtedness; engage in certain transactions with affiliates; and enter into negative pledge
agreements. In addition, the Revolving Facility is subject to a financial covenant requiring compliance with a maximum first lien net leverage ratio of 7.50 to
1.00 at the end of each fiscal quarter, which will trigger when loans outstanding under the Revolving Facility exceed 35% of the aggregate commitments
under the Revolving Facility. The Credit Agreement contains certain customary events of default, including, among others, failure to pay principal, interest or
other amounts; inaccuracy of representations and warranties; violation of covenants; cross events of default; certain bankruptcy and insolvency events;
certain ERISA events; certain undischarged judgments; and change of control.
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As of September 30, 2024, we were in compliance with all covenants of the Credit Agreement.

The following table summarizes the remaining future minimum principal payments under the Credit Agreement as of September 30, 2024:

(in thousands)

2024 $ 875

2025 3,500

2026 3,500

2027 3,500

2028 328,125

Total minimum principal payments $ 339,500

9. Earnings Per Share

A reconciliation of the number of shares in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share follows:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

(in thousands)

Basic earnings per share:

Numerator:

Net income $ 10,757 $ 6,013 $ 27,668 $ 14,061

Denominator:

Weighted-average common shares outstanding used in
computing basic earnings per share 185,506 182,710 184,840 182,135

Basic earnings per share $ 0.06 $ 0.03 $ 0.15 $ 0.08

Diluted earnings per share:

Numerator:

Net income $ 10,757 $ 6,013 $ 27,668 $ 14,061

Denominator:

Weighted-average shares used in computing basic earnings
per share 185,506 182,710 184,840 182,135

Add dilutive impact of employee equity plans 2,568 3,511 3,199 3,371

Weighted-average shares used in computing diluted earnings
per share 188,074 186,221 188,039 185,506

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.06 $ 0.03 $ 0.15 $ 0.08

The following weighted-average outstanding shares of common stock equivalents were excluded from the computation of the diluted net income per
share attributable to common stockholders for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 because their effect would have been anti-
dilutive or for which the performance condition had not been met at the end of the period:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

(in thousands)

Restricted stock units 5 11 2 39

Total anti-dilutive shares 5 11 2 39
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10. Income Taxes

For the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, we recorded income tax expense of $ 7.9 million and $4.1 million, respectively, resulting in
an effective tax rate of 42.3% and 40.6%, respectively. The increase in the effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2024 compared to
the same period in 2023 was primarily due to an increase in the amount of the unbenefited loss in the United States, partially offset by a decrease in income
taxes on income outside of the United States. For the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, we recorded income tax expense of $19.6 million
and $13.5 million, respectively, resulting in an effective tax rate of 41.5% and 49.0%, respectively. The decrease in the effective tax rate for the nine months
ended September 30, 2024 compared to the same period in 2023 was primarily due to a decrease in income taxes on income outside of the United States,
partially offset by an increase in the amount of the unbenefited loss in the United States.

Our policy is to include interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. As of September 30, 2024,
we did not have any accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits.

In 2021, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development ("OECD") released model rules for a global minimum tax known as Pillar Two.
Under such rules, a minimum effective tax rate of 15% would apply to multinational companies with consolidated revenues above €750 million. Although we
operate in one or more jurisdictions that have substantively enacted Pillar Two legislation, we have not exceeded the revenue threshold of €750 million, and
as such, we do not expect to be subject to the Pillar Two rules in 2024.

We file U.S., state and foreign income tax returns in jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitations. The 2012 through 2023 tax years generally remain
open and subject to examination by federal, state and foreign tax authorities. We are not currently under audit in any taxing jurisdictions.

11. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we have been and may be involved in various legal proceedings arising in our ordinary course of business.

We are party to a stockholders’ agreement dated as of July 19, 2021, by and among N-able, Inc. and the stockholders named therein, as amended
December 13, 2021 (the “Stockholders’ Agreement”). On March 16, 2023, a stockholder who is not party to the agreement filed a Complaint for Declaratory
Relief in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware against us seeking, among other relief, class action certification and a declaratory judgment that
certain provisions in the Stockholders’ Agreement are unenforceable, including, among others, provisions relating to the election and removal of directors,
the composition of committees and the hiring, or termination of the employment, of our chief executive officer. On July 25, 2024, the court issued an opinion
(i) granting the stockholder plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment and declaring certain provisions of the Stockholders’ Agreement facially invalid and
unenforceable as a matter of Delaware law, including, among others, provisions relating to the election and removal of directors, the composition of
committees and approval rights of the stockholders party to the Stockholders’ Agreement and (ii) granting our motion for summary judgment as to the facial
validity of certain other provisions of the Stockholders’ Agreement related to the nomination of directors and our use of reasonable best efforts to secure the
election of the certain nominees. The court entered an order on August 9, 2024 implementing the court’s decision. On August 30, 2024, Plaintiff filed its
motion for attorneys’ fees and expenses. The Company filed its opposition to such motion on October 4, 2024. A hearing on the motion is scheduled for
December 2, 2024. The Company continues to evaluate its options with respect to a potential appeal of the court’s decision.

In the opinion of management, the resolution of any pending claims (either individually or in the aggregate) is not expected to have a material adverse
impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements, cash flows or financial position and it is not possible to provide an estimated amount of any such loss.
However, the outcome of disputes is inherently uncertain. Therefore, although management considers the likelihood of such an outcome to be remote, an
unfavorable resolution of one or more matters could materially affect our future results of operations or cash flows, or both, in a particular period.

Commitments as a Result of Acquisitions

On July 1, 2022, we completed the acquisition of all the outstanding equity of Spinpanel for a total consideration of up to approximately $ 20.0 million,
including up to $10.0 million payable upon the achievement of certain revenue metrics through July 1, 2025. The contingent consideration liability is re-
evaluated at least quarterly, with the resulting gains and losses recognized within general and administrative expense in our Consolidated Statements of
Operations. The fair value of this contingent consideration was $5.2 million at the date of acquisition and $ 3.7 million as of December 31, 2023. As of
September 30, 2024, there is no remaining contingent consideration liability. We recognized a gain of $ 2.4 million and $0.6 million on the
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contingent consideration for the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and a gain of $ 3.7 million and $1.0 million on the
contingent consideration for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The contingent consideration liability of $3.7 million as of
December 31, 2023 is included in “other long-term liabilities” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 3. Acquisitions, Note 6. Fair Value
Measurements, and Note 7. Accrued Liabilities and Other  for further details regarding our contingent consideration liabilities.

On December 14, 2022, we completed the acquisition of certain assets, primarily in the form of intellectual property, from a third party for a total
consideration of up to $6.5 million, including $3.1 million of cash paid on the acquisition date, $ 1.0 million of product delivery fees and up to $ 2.5 million
payable upon the achievement of certain software engineering and knowledge transfer milestones. The total consideration of $6.5 million has been
capitalized as costs to obtain internal-use computer software from third parties and will be amortized over an estimated useful life of three years, beginning
when the related technology is deemed ready for its intended use, in accordance with our policy for the capitalization of internal-use software costs. The
$2.5 million of contingent consideration was deemed to be the total value of technology not ready for its intended use as of the acquisition date. During the
year ended December 31, 2023, $1.5 million of cash was paid due to the achievement of two of the software engineering and knowledge transfer
milestones, with the related technology deemed ready for its intended use. During the three months ended June 30, 2024, $1.0 million of cash was paid due
to the achievement of the final software engineering and knowledge transfer milestones, with the related technology deemed ready for its intended use.
There is no remaining contingent consideration related to this acquisition as of September 30, 2024, and no gains or losses on the contingent consideration
were recognized during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023. See Note 7. Accrued Liabilities and Other  for further details
regarding our contingent consideration liabilities.
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial
Statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. In addition to historical consolidated financial information,
the following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual results could differ materially and
adversely from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements. Please see the section entitled “Safe Harbor Cautionary Statement” above and the risk
factors described in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, for a discussion of the
uncertainties, risks and assumptions associated with these statements. The following discussion and analysis also includes a discussion of certain non-
GAAP financial measures. For a description and reconciliation of the non-GAAP measures discussed in this section, see “Non-GAAP Financial Measures”
below.

Overview

N-able, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries (“Company”, “we,” “us” and “our”) is a leading global provider of cloud-based software
solutions for managed service providers (“MSPs”), enabling them to support digital transformation and growth for small and medium-sized enterprises
(“SMEs”), which we define as those enterprises having fewer than 1,000 employees. With a flexible technology platform and powerful integrations, N-able
makes it easy for MSPs to monitor, manage and protect their end-customer systems, data and networks. Our growing portfolio of security, automation and
backup and recovery solutions is built for IT services management professionals. N-able simplifies complex ecosystems and enables customers to solve
their most pressing challenges. In addition, we provide extensive, proactive support—through enriching partner programs, hands-on training and growth
resources—to help MSPs deliver exceptional value and achieve success at scale. Through our multi-dimensional land and expand model and global
presence, we are able to drive strong recurring revenue growth and profitability.

SolarWinds Cyber Incident

On August 6, 2020, SolarWinds Corporation (“SolarWinds” or “Parent”) announced that its board of directors had authorized management to explore a
potential spin-off of its MSP business into our company, a newly created and separately traded public company, and separate into two distinct, publicly
traded companies (the “Separation”). On July 19, 2021, SolarWinds completed the Separation through a pro-rata distribution (the “Distribution”) of all the
outstanding shares of our common stock it held to the stockholders of record of SolarWinds as of the close of business on July 12, 2021. As a result of the
Distribution, we became an independent public company and our common stock is listed under the symbol “NABL” on the New York Stock Exchange.

As previously disclosed, SolarWinds was the victim of a cyberattack on its Orion Software Platform and internal systems, or the Cyber Incident.
SolarWinds concluded its internal investigations related to the Cyber Incident and did not identify SUNBURST in any of its more than 70 non-Orion products
and tools, including, as previously disclosed, any of our N-able solutions.

In response to the Cyber Incident and in connection with the Separation and Distribution, we continue to work to further enhance security, monitoring
and authentication of our solutions. Specifically, we have implemented in-product security enhancements to the N-able portfolio of products, including, multi-
factor authentication, unified single sign-on services and secure secret vaults. We have also introduced new identity and access controls, scanning and
remediation technologies and standards and monitoring tooling across our enterprise IT and production environments. We expect to incur additional
expenses in future periods related to continued enhancements to our security measures across our solutions.

Of the expenses SolarWinds recorded related to the Cyber Incident through the Separation and Distribution date of July 19, 2021, none were allocated
to the N-able business and, as a result of the indemnification provisions under the Separation and Distribution Agreement entered into in connection with
the Separation and Distribution (the “Separation and Distribution Agreement”), we have not recorded any contingent liabilities with respect to the Cyber
Incident as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023. In addition, as a result of the Cyber Incident, SolarWinds has been subject to numerous
lawsuits and governmental investigations or inquiries. To date, we have not been separately named in such lawsuits and investigations, but in the future we
may become subject to lawsuits, investigations or inquiries related to the Cyber Incident. In such event, subject to the terms of the Separation and
Distribution Agreement, SolarWinds would indemnify us for costs we may incur.

We believe the Cyber Incident caused reputational harm to SolarWinds and also had an adverse impact on our reputation, new subscription sales and
net retention rates. In general, our sales cycles and time from contract to revenue recognition are primarily short in nature, and we believe that the adverse
impacts of the Cyber Incident on our financial results have diminished. Nevertheless, there is risk that the Cyber Incident may continue to have an adverse
impact on our business in future periods, and to the extent such impact continues, including as a result of new discoveries or events, it could have an
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows or financial position.
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Third Quarter Financial Highlights

Revenue

We deliver a platform of solutions that enables our MSP partners to manage and secure the IT environments and assets for their SME end customers,
as well as more efficiently manage their own businesses. Our total revenue was $116.4 million and $107.6 million for the three months ended September
30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, we began increasing the proportion of our subscriptions that are long-term committed contracts, as
compared to month-to-month contracts (the “Long-Term Contract Initiative”). Under Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (“Topic 606”),” we recognize revenue for long-term subscriptions when the distinct license is made available to the customer, and support
revenue is recognized ratably over the contract term. Point in time subscription revenue increased from $10.9 million during the three months ended
September 30, 2023 to $15.2 million during the three months ended September 30, 2024, and from $41.7 million during the nine months ended September
30, 2023 to $51.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2024. The increase in point in time subscription revenue was primarily due to the
impact of revenue recognition for long-term committed contracts under Topic 606, net of any volume and pricing rationalization when committing to long-
term subscriptions and any fluctuations in month to month contracts. See Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for further details regarding revenue recognized from subscription and other services at a point in time and over time.

As of September 30, 2024, we had approximately 25,000 customers. Additionally, as of September 30, 2024, we had 2,275 MSP partners with
annualized recurring revenue (“ARR”) over $50,000 on our platform, up from 2,134 as of September 30, 2023, representing an increase of 6.6%. The
number of MSP partners may fluctuate over time as the result of a number of factors. Over the same period, MSP partners with over $50,000 of ARR on our
platform grew from approximately 55% of our total ARR as of September 30, 2023 to approximately 57% of our total ARR as of September 30, 2024. We
define ARR as the annualized recurring revenue as of the last month of a given period. We calculate ARR by multiplying the recurring revenue and related
usage revenue, excluding the impacts of credits and reserves, recognized during the final month of the reporting period from both long-term and month-to-
month subscriptions by twelve. We use ARR, and in particular, ARR attributable to MSP partners with over $50,000 of ARR, to enhance the understanding
of our business performance and the growth of our relationships with our MSP partners.

Profitability

We have grown while maintaining high levels of operating efficiency. Our operating income for the three months ended September 30, 2024 was $23.9
million compared to operating income of $18.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023. Our net income for the three months ended
September 30, 2024 was $10.8 million compared to net income of $6.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023. The increase in net income
for the three months ended September 30, 2024 was primarily due to an increase in revenue, an increase in other income, net, a decrease in sales and
marketing expense, a decrease in general and administrative expense, and a decrease in interest expense, net, partially offset by an increase in research
and development expense, an increase in income tax expense, and an increase in cost of revenue. Our Adjusted EBITDA, calculated as net income of
$10.8 million and $6.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, excluding amortization of acquired intangible assets
and developed technology of $2.1 million and $1.4 million, respectively, depreciation expense of $4.0 million and $3.9 million, respectively, income tax
expense of $7.9 million and $4.1 million, respectively, interest expense, net of $7.5 million and $7.8 million, respectively, unrealized foreign currency (gains)
losses of $(0.5) million and $1.6 million, respectively, transaction related costs of $(1.8) million and $(0.6) million, respectively, spin-off costs of $0.0 million
and $0.2 million, respectively, stock-based compensation expense and related employer-paid payroll taxes of $11.8 million and $11.6 million, respectively,
and restructuring costs and other of $3.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively, was $44.8 million and $36.6 million for the three months ended September
30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. For a description and reconciliation of the non-GAAP measures discussed in this section, see Non-GAAP Financial
Measures below.

Cash Flow

We have built our business to generate strong cash flow over the long term. For the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, cash flows
from operations were $22.0 million and $27.5 million, respectively. Our cash flows from operations were reduced by cash payments for interest of $7.2
million and $7.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and cash payments for income taxes of $2.1 million and
$1.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Components of Our Results of Operations

Revenue

Our revenue consists of the following:

• Subscription Revenue. We primarily derive subscription revenue from the sale of subscriptions to the SaaS solutions that we host and
manage on our platform. Our subscriptions provide access to the latest versions of our software platform, technical support and unspecified
software upgrades and updates. Subscription revenue for our SaaS solutions is generally recognized ratably over the subscription term
once the service is made available to the MSP partner or when we have the right to invoice for services performed. In addition, our
subscription revenue includes sales of our self-managed solutions, which are hosted and managed by our MSP partners. Subscriptions of
our self-managed solutions include term licenses, technical support and unspecified software upgrades. Revenue from the license
performance obligation of our self-managed solutions is recognized at a point in time upon delivery of the access to the licenses and
revenue from the performance obligation related to the technical support and unspecified software upgrades of our subscription-based
license arrangements is recognized ratably over the agreement period. We generally invoice subscription agreements monthly based on
usage or in advance over the subscription period on either a monthly or annual basis.

• Other Revenue. Other revenue consists primarily of revenue from the sale of our maintenance services associated with the historical sales
of perpetual licenses and revenue from professional services. MSP partners with maintenance agreements are entitled to receive technical
support and unspecified upgrades or enhancements to new versions of their solutions on a when-and-if-available basis for the specified
agreement period.

Cost of Revenue

• Cost of Revenue.  Cost of revenue consists of public cloud infrastructure and hosting fees, an allocation of overhead costs for our subscription
revenue and maintenance services, royalty fees and technical support personnel costs. We allocate facilities, depreciation, IT and benefits costs based on
headcount.

• Amortization of Acquired Technologies.  We amortize to cost of revenue capitalized costs of technologies acquired in connection with the take
private transaction of SolarWinds in early 2016 and subsequent business combinations, including the July 1, 2022 acquisition of Spinpanel B.V.
(“Spinpanel”). Amortization related to the take private transaction of SolarWinds concluded during the three months ended March 31, 2023.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consist of sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative expenses as well as amortization of
acquired intangibles. Generally, personnel costs are the most significant component of operating expenses and include salaries, bonuses and stock-based
compensation and related employer-paid payroll taxes, as well as an allocation of our facilities, depreciation, IT and benefits costs. We had total employees
of 1,635, 1,584, and 1,580 as of September 30, 2024, December 31, 2023, and September 30, 2023, respectively. Our stock-based compensation expense
increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 as compared to the corresponding period of the prior fiscal year primarily due to the
impact of new equity awards that were granted to employees through September 30, 2024.

• Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of related personnel costs, including our sales, marketing, partner success
and product management teams, net of capitalized commissions related to long-term committed contracts, as well as an allocation of our facilities,
depreciation, IT and benefits costs. Sales and marketing expenses also include the cost of digital marketing programs such as paid search, search engine
optimization and management and website maintenance and design, marketing development funds, as well as the cost of events for existing and
prospective customers. We expect to continue to grow our sales and marketing organization over time to drive new MSP partner adds, retain and expand
with existing MSP partners and pursue initiatives designed to help our MSP partners succeed and grow.

• Research and Development.  Research and development expenses primarily consist of related personnel costs, including our engineering,
development operations, user experience and security operations teams, as well as an allocation of our facilities, depreciation, IT and benefits costs. We
expect to continue to grow our research and development organization over time and also to incur additional expenses associated with bringing new product
offerings to market and our enhancements of security, monitoring and authentication of our solutions.

• General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses primarily consist of personnel costs for executives, finance, legal, human
resources, business applications and other administrative personnel, general restructuring charges and other transaction related costs, professional fees
and other general corporate expenses, as well as an allocation of our facilities,
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depreciation, IT and benefits costs. We expect to continue to grow our general and administrative organization over time to support continued growth of our
business.

• Amortization of Acquired Intangibles. We amortize to operating expenses capitalized costs of intangible assets primarily acquired in connection with
the take private transaction of SolarWinds in early 2016 and subsequent business combinations, including the July 1, 2022 acquisition of Spinpanel.
Amortization related to the take private transaction of SolarWinds concluded during the three months ended March 31, 2023.

Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net primarily consists of interest expense related to the Credit Agreement and losses resulting from changes in exchange rates on
foreign currency denominated accounts, partially offset by gains resulting from changes in exchange rates on foreign currency denominated accounts and
dividend income from our money market fund financial assets. See Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk  for additional
information on how interest rates impact our financial results.

Foreign Currency

As a global company, we face exposure to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates. Fluctuations in foreign currencies impact the
amount of total assets, liabilities, revenue, operating expenses and cash flows that we report for our foreign subsidiaries upon the translation of these
amounts into U.S. dollars. See Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk  for additional information on how foreign currency
impacts our financial results.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense consists of domestic and foreign corporate income taxes related to the sale of subscriptions. Our effective tax rate will be affected
by many factors including changes in tax laws, regulations or rates, new interpretations of existing laws or regulations, valuation allowance, uncertain tax
positions, stock-based compensation, permanent nondeductible book and tax differences, shifts in the allocation of income earned throughout the world and
changes in overall levels of income before tax.

Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023

Revenue

Three Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023

Amount
Percentage of
Revenue Amount

Percentage of
Revenue Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Subscription revenue $ 114,998 98.8 % $ 105,208 97.8 % $ 9,790 

Other revenue 1,444 1.2 2,359 2.2 (915)

Total subscription and other revenue $ 116,442 100.0 % $ 107,567 100.0 % $ 8,875 

Total revenue increased $8.9 million, or 8.3%, for the three months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended September 30,
2023. We base revenue by geography on the billing address of each MSP partner. Based on MSP partner location, revenue from the United States was
approximately 47.6% and 48.6% of total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Revenue from the United
Kingdom was approximately 10.6% and 10.2% of total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Other than the
United States and the United Kingdom, no single country accounted for 10% or more of our total revenue during these periods.

Subscription Revenue. Subscription revenue increased $9.8 million, or 9.3%, for the three months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the three
months ended September 30, 2023. The increase in subscription revenue was primarily driven by growth in sales of our data protection, security and
remote monitoring and management solutions, inclusive of the net positive impact from long-term committed contracts. See Third Quarter Financial
Highlights for further details regarding the impact of long-term committed contracts d uring the three months ended September 30, 2024. Subscription
revenue as a percentage of our total revenue was 98.8% for the three months ended September 30, 2024, compared to 97.8% for the three months ended
September 30, 2023.

Our annual dollar-based net revenue retention rate for our subscription products was approximately 105% and 108% for the trailing twelve-month
periods ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The 105% dollar-based net revenue retention rate reflects the pressure from our pricing and
packaging changes, coupled with rationalization related to our Long-Term Contract Initiative, which began materially impacting net revenue retention during
the three months ended June 30, 2024. Our
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calculation includes any expansion revenue and is net of any contraction or cancellation, but excludes credits and revenue attributable to any MSP partner
who was not a partner with a paid subscription in the prior period. To calculate our annual dollar-based net revenue retention rate, we first identify the MSP
partners with active paid subscriptions in the last month of the prior-year period, or the base partners. We then divide the subscription revenue in the last
month of the current-year period attributable to the base partners by the revenue attributable to those base partners in the last month of the prior-year
period. Our dollar-based net revenue retention rate for a particular period is then obtained by averaging the rates from that particular period with the results
from each of the prior eleven months.

Other Revenue. Other revenue decreased $0.9 million, or 38.8%, for the three months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended
September 30, 2023, primarily due to a decrease in maintenance and professional services revenue. Other revenue as a percentage of our total revenue
was 1.2% for the three months ended September 30, 2024, compared to 2.2% for the three months ended September 30, 2023.

Cost of Revenue

Three Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023

Amount
Percentage of
Revenue Amount

Percentage of
Revenue Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Cost of revenue $ 19,433 16.7 % $ 16,893 15.7 % $ 2,540 

Amortization of acquired technologies 467 0.4 463 0.4 

Total cost of revenue $ 19,900 17.1 % $ 17,356 16.1 % $ 2,544 

Total cost of revenue increased $2.5 million, or 14.7%, for the three months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended
September 30, 2023, primarily due to an increase in public cloud infrastructure and hosting fees and royalties related to our subscription products of
$1.7 million, an increase in depreciation of servers and amortization of capitalized internal-use software costs of $0.8 million, and an increase in stock-based
compensation expense of $0.1 million, partially offset by a decrease in allocated facilities and IT costs of $0.1 million.

Operating Expenses

Three Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023

Amount
Percentage of
Revenue Amount

Percentage of
Revenue Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Sales and marketing $ 32,294 27.7 % $ 33,660 31.3 % $ (1,366)

Research and development 22,995 19.7 19,752 18.4 3,243 

General and administrative 17,330 14.9 18,438 17.1 (1,108)

Amortization of acquired intangibles 15 — 11 — 

Total operating expenses $ 72,634 62.4 % $ 71,861 66.8 % $ 773 

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses decreased $1.4 million, or 4.1%, primarily due to an increase in commissions related to long-term
committed contracts that were capitalized from sales and marketing expenses to the Consolidated Balance Sheets of $1.0 million, a decrease in advertising
expense of $0.3 million, a decrease in personnel costs of $0.2 million, and a decrease in contract services costs of $0.1 million, partially offset by an
increase in travel and event-related costs of $0.2 million and an increase in allocated facilities and IT costs of $0.1 million.

Research and Development.  Research and development expenses increased $3.2 million, or 16.4%, primarily due to an increase in personnel costs
driven by headcount and salary increases of $1.3 million, which includes an increase in stock-based compensation expense of $0.3 million, an increase in
allocated facilities and IT costs of $1.1 million, an increase in subscription costs of $0.5 million, and a decrease in capitalized internal-use software costs of
$0.2 million.

General and Administrative . General and administrative expenses decreased $1.1 million, or 6.0%, primarily due to gains on contingent consideration
related to the July 1, 2022 acquisition of Spinpanel of $2.4 million, a decrease in allocated facilities and IT costs of $1.2 million, a decrease in bad debt
expense of $0.9 million, a decrease in stock-based compensation expense of $0.2 million, a decrease in depreciation expense of $0.2 million, and a
decrease in costs associated with our separation from
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SolarWinds of $0.2 million, partially offset by and increase in restructuring and other costs of $1.6 million, an increase in rent expense of $1.3 million, and an
increase in transaction related costs of $1.1 million. See Note 3. Acquisitions, Note 6. Fair Value Measurements , and Note 11. Commitments and
Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further details regarding the acquisition of Spinpanel.

Amortization of Acquired Intangibles. Amortization of acquired intangibles was consistent for the three months ended September 30, 2024 compared to
the three months ended September 30, 2023.

Interest Expense, Net

Three Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023

Amount
Percentage of

Revenue Amount
Percentage of

Revenue Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Interest expense, net $ (7,535) (6.5) % $ (7,802) (7.3) % $ 267 

Interest expense, net decreased by $0.3 million, or 3.4%, for the three months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended
September 30, 2023, primarily due to the impact of decreased interest rates and lower outstanding borrowings under the Credit Agreement. Outstanding
borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at variable rates, and therefore changes in interest rates will have an impact on our financial results
and cash flows. See Note 8. Debt in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further details regarding the Credit Agreement.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Three Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023

Amount
Percentage of
Revenue Amount

Percentage of
Revenue Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Other income (expense), net $ 2,269 1.9 % $ (423) (0.4) % $ 2,692 

Other income (expense), net increased by $2.7 million, or 636.4%, for the three months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the three months
ended September 30, 2023, primarily due to an increase in the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates of $2.2 million related to various
accounts for the period and an increase in dividend income from our money market fund financial assets of $0.6 million.

Income Tax Expense

Three Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023

Amount
Percentage of
Revenue Amount

Percentage of
Revenue Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Income before income taxes $ 18,642 16.0 % $ 10,125 9.4 % $ 8,517 

Income tax expense 7,885 6.8 4,112 3.8 3,773 

Effective tax rate 42.3 % 40.6 % 1.7 

Our income tax expense for the three months ended September 30, 2024 increased by $3.8 million as compared to the three months ended September
30, 2023. The effective tax rate increased to 42.3% for the same period primarily due to an increase in the amount of the unbenefited loss in the United
States, partially offset by a decrease in income taxes on income outside of the United States. For additional discussion about our income taxes, see Note 10.
Income Taxes in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .
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Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023

Revenue

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023

Amount
Percentage of
Revenue Amount

Percentage of
Revenue Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Subscription Revenue $ 343,928 98.4 % $ 306,005 97.6 % $ 37,923 

Other revenue 5,710 1.6 7,460 2.4 (1,750)

Total subscription and other revenue $ 349,638 100.0 % $ 313,465 100.0 % $ 36,173 

Total revenue increased $36.2 million, or 11.5%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the nine months ended September 30,
2023. We base revenue by geography on the billing address of each MSP partner. Based on MSP partner location, revenue from the United States was
approximately 47.8% and 48.7% of total revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Revenue from the United Kingdom
was approximately 10.5% and 10.3% of total revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Other than the United States
and the United Kingdom, no single country accounted for 10% or more of our total revenue during these periods.

Subscription Revenue. Subscription revenue increased $37.9 million, or 12.4%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the nine
months ended September 30, 2023. The increase in subscription revenue was primarily driven by growth in sales of our data protection, security and
remote monitoring and management solutions, inclusive of the impact from long-term committed contracts. See Third Quarter Financial Highlights for further
details regarding the impact of long-term committed contracts during the nine months ended September 30, 2024. Subscription revenue as a percentage of
our total revenue was 98.4% for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, compared to 97.6% for the nine months ended September 30, 2023.

Our annual dollar-based net revenue retention rate for our subscription products was approximately 105% and 108% for the trailing twelve-month
periods ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The 105% dollar-based net revenue retention rate reflects the pressure from our pricing and
packaging changes, coupled with rationalization related to our Long-Term Contract Initiative, which began materially impacting net revenue retention during
the three months ended June 30, 2024.

Other Revenue. Other revenue decreased $1.8 million, or 23.5%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2023, primarily due to a decrease in maintenance revenue. Other revenue as a percentage of our total revenue was 1.6% for the nine
months ended September 30, 2024, compared to 2.4% for the nine months ended September 30, 2023.

Cost of Revenue

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023

Amount
Percentage of
Revenue Amount

Percentage of
Revenue Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Cost of revenue $ 55,975 16.0 % $ 49,205 15.7 % $ 6,770 

Amortization of acquired technologies 1,386 0.4 1,382 0.4 

Total cost of revenue $ 57,361 16.4 % $ 50,587 16.1 % $ 6,774 

Total cost of revenue increased $6.8 million, or 13.4%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the nine months ended September
30, 2023, primarily due to an increase in public cloud infrastructure and hosting fees and royalties related to our subscription products of $4.5 million, an
increase in depreciation of servers and amortization of capitalized internal-use software costs of $2.1 million, an increase in stock-based compensation
expense of $0.2 million and an increase in allocated facilities and IT costs of $0.1 million.
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Operating Expenses

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023

Amount
Percentage of
Revenue Amount

Percentage of
Revenue Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Sales and marketing $ 100,960 28.9 % $ 101,112 32.3 % $ (152)

Research and development 67,468 19.3 58,796 18.8 8,672 

General and administrative 57,427 16.4 53,877 17.2 3,550 

Amortization of acquired intangibles 44 — 585 0.2 (541)

Total operating expenses $ 225,899 64.6 % $ 214,370 68.4 % $ 11,529 

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses decreased $0.2 million, or 0.2%, primarily due to an increase in commissions related to long-term
committed contracts that were capitalized from sales and marketing expenses to the Consolidated Balance Sheets of $2.2 million and a decrease in
advertising expense of $1.8 million, partially offset by an increase in personnel costs driven by headcount and salary increases of $2.0 million, which
includes an increase in stock-based compensation expense of $0.3 million, an increase in travel and event-related costs of $1.4 million, and an increase in
restructuring and other costs of $0.4 million.

Research and Development.  Research and development expenses increased $8.7 million, or 14.7%, primarily due to an increase in personnel costs
driven by headcount and salary increases of $5.1 million, which includes an increase in stock-based compensation expense of $1.1 million, an increase in
subscription costs of $1.7 million, an increase in allocated facilities and IT costs of $1.6 million, a decrease in capitalized internal-use software costs of
$0.6 million and an increase in amortization expense of $0.3 million, partially offset by a decrease in restructuring costs of $0.7 million.

General and Administrative . General and administrative expenses increased $3.6 million, or 6.6%, primarily due to an increase in transaction related
costs of $5.9 million, an increase in restructuring and other costs of $2.0 million, an increase in rent expense of $2.0 million, and an increase in personnel
costs driven by headcount and salary increases of $0.6 million, which includes an increase in stock-based compensation expense of $0.2 million, partially
offset by gains on contingent consideration related to the July 1, 2022 acquisition of Spinpanel of $3.7 million, a decrease in allocated facilities and IT costs
of $2.0 million, a decrease in director and officer liability insurance costs of $0.6 million and a decrease in costs associated with our separation from
SolarWinds of $0.6 million. See Note 3. Acquisitions, Note 6. Fair Value Measurements , and Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies  of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for further details regarding the acquisition of Spinpanel.

Amortization of Acquired Intangibles. Amortization of acquired intangibles decreased $0.5 million, or 92.5%, primarily due to the conclusion of
amortization of intangible assets acquired in connection with the take private transaction of SolarWinds in early 2016 during the three months ended March
31, 2023.

Interest Expense, Net

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023

Amount
Percentage of

Revenue Amount
Percentage of

Revenue Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Interest expense, net $ (22,762) (6.5) % $ (22,532) (7.2) % $ (230)
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Interest expense, net increased by $0.2 million, or 1.0%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2023, primarily due to the impact of increased interest rates on borrowings under the Credit Agreement. Outstanding borrowings under the
Credit Agreement bear interest at variable rates, and therefore changes in interest rates will have an impact on our financial results and cash flows. See
Note 8. Debt in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further details regarding the Credit Agreement.

Other Income, Net

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023

Amount
Percentage of
Revenue Amount

Percentage of
Revenue Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Other income, net $ 3,696 1.1 % $ 1,569 0.5 % $ 2,127 

Other income, net decreased by $2.1 million, or 135.6%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2023, primarily due an increase in dividend income from our money market fund financial assets of $2.1 million and an increase in the
impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates of $0.4 million related to various accounts for the period.

Income Tax Expense

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023

Amount
Percentage of
Revenue Amount

Percentage of
Revenue Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Income before income taxes $ 47,312 13.5 % $ 27,545 8.8 % $ 19,767 

Income tax expense 19,644 5.6 13,484 4.3 6,160 

Effective tax rate 41.5 % 49.0 % (7.5)

Our income tax expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 increased by $6.2 million as compared to the nine months ended September
30, 2023. The effective tax rate decreased to 41.5% for the same period primarily due to a decrease in income taxes on income outside of the United States,
partially offset by an increase in the amount of the unbenefited loss in the United States. For additional discussion about our income taxes, see Note 10.
Income Taxes of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to financial measures prepared in accordance with GAAP, we use certain non-GAAP financial measures to clarify and enhance our
understanding, and aid in the period-to-period comparison, of our performance. We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures provide supplemental
information that is meaningful when assessing our operating performance because they exclude the impact of certain amounts that our management and
Board of Directors do not consider part of core operating results when assessing our operational performance, allocating resources, preparing annual
budgets and determining compensation. Accordingly, these non-GAAP financial measures may provide insight to investors into the motivation and decision-
making of management in operating the business. Investors are encouraged to review the reconciliation of each of these non-GAAP financial measures to
its most comparable GAAP financial measure included below.

While we believe that these non-GAAP financial measures provide useful supplemental information, non-GAAP financial measures have limitations and
should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, their most comparable GAAP measures. These non-GAAP financial measures are not
prepared in accordance with GAAP, do not reflect a comprehensive system of accounting and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other
companies due to potential differences in their financing and accounting methods, the book value of their assets, their capital structures, the method by
which their assets were acquired and the manner in which they define non-GAAP measures. Items such as the amortization of intangible assets, stock-
based compensation expense and related employer-paid payroll taxes, transaction related adjustments, spin-off costs related to the Separation and
Distribution, as well as the related tax impacts of these items can have a material impact on our GAAP financial results.
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Non-GAAP Operating Income and Non-GAAP Operating Margin

We provide non-GAAP operating income and related non-GAAP operating margins excluding such items as stock-based compensation expense and
related employer-paid payroll taxes, amortization of acquired intangible assets, transaction related costs, spin-off costs and restructuring costs and other.
We define non-GAAP operating margin as non-GAAP operating income divided by total revenue. Management believes these measures are useful for the
following reasons:

• Stock-Based Compensation Expense and Related Employer-Paid Payroll Taxes.  We provide non-GAAP information that excludes expenses related
to stock-based compensation and related employer-paid payroll taxes associated with our employees’ participation in N-able's stock-based incentive
compensation plans. We believe that the exclusion of stock-based compensation expense provides for a better comparison of our operating results to prior
periods and to our peer companies as the calculations of stock-based compensation vary from period to period and company to company due to different
valuation methodologies, subjective assumptions and the variety of award types. Employer-paid payroll taxes on stock-based compensation is dependent
on our stock price and the timing of the taxable events related to the equity awards, over which our management has little control, and does not necessarily
correlate to the core operation of our business. Because of these unique characteristics of stock-based compensation and related employer-paid payroll
taxes, management excludes these expenses when analyzing the organization’s business performance.

• Amortization of Acquired Technologies and Intangible Assets . We provide non-GAAP information that excludes expenses related to purchased
technologies and intangible assets associated with our acquisitions. We believe that eliminating this expense from our non-GAAP measures is useful to
investors because the amortization of acquired technologies and intangible assets can be inconsistent in amount and frequency and is significantly
impacted by the timing and magnitude of our acquisition transactions, which also vary in frequency from period to period. Accordingly, we analyze the
performance of our operations in each period without regard to such expenses.

• Transaction Related Costs. We exclude certain expense items resulting from proposed and completed acquisitions, dispositions and similar
transactions, such as legal, accounting and advisory fees, changes in fair value of contingent consideration, costs related to integrating the acquired
businesses, deferred compensation, severance and retention expense. We consider these adjustments, to some extent, to be unpredictable and dependent
on a significant number of factors that are outside of our control. Furthermore, such proposed and completed transactions result in operating expenses that
would not otherwise have been incurred by us in the normal course of our organic business operations. We believe that providing non-GAAP measures that
exclude transaction related costs allows investors to better review and understand the historical and current results of our continuing operations and also
facilitates comparisons to our historical results and results of peer companies with different transaction related activities, both with and without such
adjustments.

• Spin-off Costs. We exclude certain expense items resulting from the spin-off into a newly created and separately traded public company. These
costs include legal, accounting and advisory fees, system implementation costs and other incremental costs incurred by us related to the Separation and
Distribution. The spin-off transaction results in operating expenses that would not otherwise have been incurred by us in the normal course of our organic
business operations. We believe that providing non-GAAP measures that exclude these costs facilitates a more meaningful evaluation of our operating
performance and comparisons to our past operating performance.

• Restructuring Costs and Other. We provide non-GAAP information that excludes restructuring costs such as severance, certain employee
relocation costs and the estimated costs of exiting and terminating facility lease commitments, as they relate to our corporate restructuring and exit activities.
These costs are inconsistent in amount and are significantly impacted by the timing and nature of these events. Therefore, although we may incur these
types of expenses in the future, we believe that eliminating these costs for purposes of calculating the non-GAAP financial measures facilitates a more
meaningful evaluation of our operating performance and comparisons to our past operating performance.
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Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

(in thousands, except margin data)

GAAP operating income $ 23,908 $ 18,350 $ 66,378 $ 48,508 

Stock-based compensation expense and
related employer-paid payroll taxes 11,819 11,575 36,950 34,225 

Amortization of acquired technologies 467 463 1,386 1,382 

Amortization of acquired intangibles 15 11 44 585 

Transaction related costs (1,811) (609) 1,712 (618)

Spin-off costs — 166 51 623 

Restructuring costs and other 3,140 582 4,025 1,618 

Non-GAAP operating income $ 37,538 $ 30,538 $ 110,546 $ 86,323 

GAAP operating margin 20.5 % 17.1 % 19.0 % 15.5 %

Non-GAAP operating margin 32.2 % 28.4 % 31.6 % 27.5 %

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin

We regularly monitor adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin, as they are measures we use to assess our operating performance. We define
adjusted EBITDA as net income or loss, excluding amortization of acquired intangible assets and developed technology, depreciation expense, income tax
expense (benefit), interest expense, net, unrealized foreign currency losses (gains), transaction related costs, spin-off costs, stock-based compensation
expense and related employer-paid payroll taxes and restructuring and other costs. We define adjusted EBITDA margin as adjusted EBITDA divided by
total revenue. Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results
as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations include:

• although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the
future, and adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditure
requirements;

• adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

• adjusted EBITDA does not reflect tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us; and

• other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate adjusted EBITDA differently, which reduces its usefulness as a
comparative measure.

Because of these limitations, you should consider adjusted EBITDA alongside other financial performance measures, including operating income and
net income and our other GAAP results. In evaluating adjusted EBITDA, you should be aware that in the future we may incur expenses that are the same
as, or similar to, some of the adjustments in this presentation. Our presentation of adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an implication that our
future results will be unaffected by the types of items excluded from the calculation of adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA is not a presentation made in
accordance with GAAP and the use of the term varies from others in our industry.

32



 Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

 2024 2023 2024 2023

(in thousands, except margin data)

Net income $ 10,757 $ 6,013 $ 27,668 $ 14,061 

Amortization 2,099 1,437 5,840 4,825 

Depreciation 3,956 3,892 11,938 11,317 

Income tax expense 7,885 4,112 19,644 13,484 

Interest expense, net 7,535 7,802 22,762 22,532 

Unrealized foreign currency (gains) losses (548) 1,582 693 2,137 

Transaction related costs (1,811) (609) 1,712 (618)

Spin-off costs — 166 51 623 

Stock-based compensation expense and
related employer-paid payroll taxes 11,819 11,575 36,950 34,225 

Restructuring costs and other 3,140 582 4,025 1,618 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 44,832 $ 36,552 $ 131,283 $ 104,204 

Adjusted EBITDA margin 38.5 % 34.0 % 37.5 % 33.2 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents were $174.4 million as of September 30, 2024. As our sales and operating cash flows are primarily generated by
international entities in the United Kingdom and Canada, our international subsidiaries held approximately $167.1 million of cash and cash equivalents, of
which 82.8%, 9.5% and 3.5% were held in United States Dollars, Euros and British Pound Sterling, respectively. We intend either to invest our foreign
earnings permanently into foreign operations or to remit these earnings to our United States entities in a tax-efficient manner. The U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act of 2017 imposed a mandatory transition tax on accumulated foreign earnings and eliminates United States federal income taxes on foreign subsidiary
distributions. As a result, our earnings in foreign jurisdictions are generally available for distribution to the United States without significant U.S. tax
consequences.

Our primary source of cash for funding operations and growth has been through cash provided by operating activities. Given the uncertainty of rapidly
changing market and economic conditions, we continue to evaluate the nature and extent of the impact to our business and financial position. However,
despite this uncertainty, we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and our cash flows from operating activities will be sufficient to fund our
operations and meet our commitments for capital expenditures for at least the next twelve months.

In connection with the Separation and Distribution, on July 19, 2021, certain subsidiaries of the Company entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”) with JPMorgan Chase, Bank, N.A. as administrative agent and collateral agent and the lenders from time to time party thereto. The Credit
Agreement provides for $410.0 million of first lien secured credit facilities (the “Credit Facilities”), consisting of a $60.0 million revolving credit facility (the
“Revolving Facility”), and a $350.0 million term loan facility (the “Term Loan”). On July 19, 2021, prior to the completion of the Distribution, the Company
distributed approximately $16.5 million, representing the proceeds from the Term Loan, net of the repayment of related party debt due to SolarWinds
Holdings, Inc., payment of intercompany trade payables, and fees and other transaction related expenses, to SolarWinds. The Revolving Facility is primarily
available for general corporate purposes. We had total borrowings of $333.6 million and $335.0 million as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively, net of debt issuance costs of $5.9 million and $7.1 million, respectively. See Note 8. Debt in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for further details regarding the Credit Agreement.

Although we are not currently a party to any material definitive agreement regarding potential investments in, or acquisitions of, complementary
businesses, applications or technologies, we may enter into these types of arrangements, which could reduce our cash and cash equivalents, require us to
seek additional equity or debt financing or repatriate cash generated by our international operations. Additional funds from financing arrangements may not
be available on terms favorable to us or at all.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated organizations or
financial partnerships, such as structured finance or special purpose entities that would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance
sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.
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Summary of Cash Flows

Summarized cash flow information is as follows:

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023

(in thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 53,451 $ 58,869 

Net cash used in investing activities (15,586) (17,162)

Net cash used in financing activities (19,396) (11,950)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2,928 (1,171)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 21,397 $ 28,586 

Operating Activities

Our primary source of cash from operating activities is cash collections from our MSP partners and our distributors. We expect cash inflows from
operating activities to be affected by the timing of our sales and the consumption of our solutions by our MSP partners. Our primary uses of cash from
operating activities are for personnel-related expenditures, and other general operating expenses, as well as payments related to taxes, interest and
facilities.

Cash provided by operating activities decreased for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 as compared to the nine months ended September 30,
2023, primarily due to a net cash outflow resulting from changes in our operating assets and liabilities, partially offset by an increase in net income and an
increase in non-cash items within net income. The net cash outflow resulting from changes in our operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to an
increase in current contract assets, a decrease in accrued liabilities and other, an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets, an increase in
recoverable taxes, an increase in other long-term assets, an increase in deferred revenue, and a decrease in other long-term liabilities, partially offset by an
increase in income taxes payable, a decrease in accounts receivable, a decrease in income taxes receivable, and an increase in accounts payable. The net
cash outflow of $26.1 million and $6.0 million resulting from changes in our operating assets and liabilities for the nine months ended September 30, 2024
and 2023, respectively, excluding the changes noted above, was primarily due to the timing of sales, cash payments and receipts.

Investing Activities

Investing cash flows consist of cash used for capital expenditures and intangible assets. Our capital expenditures principally relate to purchases of
servers for cloud infrastructure primarily to support our data protection solutions, as well as leasehold improvements, computers and equipment to support
our domestic and international office locations. Purchases of intangible assets consist of capitalized research and development costs.

Net cash used in investing activities decreased for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 as compared to the nine months ended September 30,
2023, primarily due to a decrease in capitalized research and development costs related to internal-use software and a decrease in capital expenditures to
support our domestic and international office locations.

Financing Activities

Financing cash flows consist of payments of tax withholding obligations related to restricted stock, the exercise of stock options, proceeds from the
issuance of common stock under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, deferred acquisition payments and repayments of borrowings from the Credit
Agreement.

Net cash used in financing activities increased for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 as compared to the nine months ended September 30,
2023, primarily due to an increase in payments of tax withholding obligations related to restricted stock, an increase in deferred acquisition payments and a
decrease in proceeds from exercises of stock options, partially offset by an increase in proceeds from the issuance of common stock under the Employee
Stock Purchase Plan.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

As of September 30, 2024, there have been no material changes in our contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2023, which were
disclosed in our 2023 Annual Report.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in conformity with GAAP and require our management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses and related
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disclosures. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Actual results may differ from these estimates, and such estimates may change if the underlying conditions or assumptions change. To the extent that there
are differences between our estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows will be affected, perhaps materially.

In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP and does not require management’s judgment in its
application, while in other cases, management’s judgment is required in selecting among available alternative accounting standards that allow different
accounting treatment for similar transactions. We believe that these accounting policies requiring significant management judgment and estimates are critical
to understanding our historical and future performance, as these policies relate to the more significant areas of our financial results. These critical accounting
policies are:

• the valuation of goodwill, intangibles, long-lived assets and contingent consideration;

• revenue recognition; and

• income taxes.

A full description of our critical accounting policies that involve significant management judgment appears in our 2023 Annual Report. There have been
no material changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates since that time.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  for a full description of recently adopted
accounting pronouncements, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

We had cash and cash equivalents of $174.4 million and $153.0 million at September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. Our cash and
cash equivalents consist of bank demand deposits and money market funds and do not have material exposure to market risk. We hold cash and cash
equivalents for working capital purposes. Our investments are made for capital preservation purposes, and we do not enter into investments for trading or
speculative purposes.

We had total borrowings under the Credit Agreement, net of debt issuance costs, of $333.6 million and $335.0 million as of September 30, 2024 and
December 31, 2023, respectively. Under the Credit Agreement, borrowings denominated in U.S. dollars under the Revolving Facility bore interest at a
floating rate of an Adjusted London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) rate (subject to a “floor” of 0.0%) for a specified interest period plus an applicable
margin of 3.00%, until the LIBOR-based rate was replaced, as described below. Under the Credit Agreement, borrowings denominated in Euros under the
Revolving Facility bear interest at a floating rate of an Adjusted Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”) rate (subject to a “floor” of 0.0%) for a specified
interest period plus an applicable margin of 3.00%. Under the Credit Agreement, borrowings under the Term Loan bore interest at a floating rate of an
Adjusted LIBOR rate (subject to a “floor” of 0.5%) for a specified interest period plus an applicable margin of 3.00%, until the LIBOR-based rate was
replaced, as described below. Each margin is subject to reductions to 2.75% and 1.75%, respectively, based on our first lien net leverage ratio.

On June 26, 2023, the parties entered into Amendment No. 1 (“Amendment No. 1”) to the Credit Agreement. Amendment No. 1 amended the Credit
Agreement to, among other things, replace the LIBOR-based rate included in the Credit Agreement with a Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”)-
based rate, as an interest rate benchmark. Other than the foregoing, the material terms of the Credit Agreement described herein remain unchanged. The
effective interest rate on our outstanding debt remained as a LIBOR-based rate until August 31, 2023, at which point it transitioned to a SOFR-based rate.

As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the annual weighted-average interest rate on borrowings was 8.07% and 8.40%, respectively. If
there was a hypothetical 100 basis point increase in interest rates, the annual impact to interest expense would be approximately $3.4 million as of both
September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023. This hypothetical change in interest expense has been calculated based on the variable rate borrowings
outstanding at September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 and a 100 basis point per annum change in interest rate applied over a one-year period.
Changes in interest rates have had and could continue to have an adverse impact on our financial results and cash flows since outstanding borrowings
under the Credit Agreement bear interest at variable rates.

We do not have material exposure to market risk with respect to our cash and cash equivalents, as these consist primarily of highly liquid investments
purchased with original maturities of three months or less as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.
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See Note 8. Debt in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  for further details regarding the Credit Agreement and Interest Expense, Net of
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Comparison of the three months ended September 30, 2024 and
2023 for further details on the current and expected continued impact of increases in interest rates on borrowings under the Credit Agreement.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

As a global company, we face exposure to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates. We primarily conduct business in the following
locations: the United States, United Kingdom, Europe and Canada. This exposure is the result of selling in multiple currencies, growth in our international
investments, additional headcount in foreign countries and operating in countries where the functional currency is the local currency. Specifically, our results
of operations and cash flows are primarily subject to fluctuations in the following currencies: the Euro, British Pound Sterling and Canadian Dollar against
the U.S. dollar. These exposures may change over time as business practices evolve and economic conditions change, including as a result of the impact
on the global economy of, or governmental actions taken in response to, the Russia-Ukraine conflict or escalating conflicts in the Middle East. Changes in
foreign currency exchange rates have had and could continue to have an adverse impact on our financial results and cash flows.

Our Consolidated Statements of Operations are translated into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rates in each applicable period. Our international
revenue, operating expenses and significant balance sheet accounts denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar primarily flow through our United
Kingdom and European subsidiaries, which have historically had British Pound Sterling and Euro functional currencies, respectively, resulting in a two-step
currency exchange process wherein the currencies other than the British Pound Sterling and Euro are first converted into those functional currencies and
then translated into U.S. dollars for our Consolidated Financial Statements. In connection with the Separation and Distribution, our United Kingdom legal
entity changed its functional currency from the British Pound Sterling to the US dollar.

Our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Balance Sheets accounts are also impacted by the re-measurement of non-functional currency
transactions such as cash accounts held by our overseas subsidiaries, accounts receivable denominated in foreign currencies, deferred revenue and
accounts payable denominated in foreign currencies.

Foreign Currency Transaction Risk

Our foreign currency exposures typically arise from selling annual and multi-year subscriptions in multiple currencies, accounts receivable and other
intercompany transactions.

Foreign Currency Translation Risk

Fluctuations in foreign currencies impact the amount of total assets, liabilities, revenue, operating expenses and cash flows that we report for our foreign
subsidiaries upon the translation of these amounts into U.S. dollars. If there is a change in foreign currency exchange rates, the amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenue, operating expenses and cash flows that we report in U.S. dollars for foreign subsidiaries that transact in international currencies may be
higher or lower to what we would have reported if using a constant currency rate. To the extent the U.S. dollar strengthens against foreign currencies, the
translation of these foreign currency denominated transactions results in reduced assets, liabilities, revenue, operating expenses and cash flows for our
international operations. Similarly, our assets, liabilities, revenue, operating expenses and cash flows will increase for our international operations if the U.S.
dollar weakens against foreign currencies. The conversion of the foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements into U.S. dollars will also lead to remeasurement
gains and losses recorded in income, or translation gains or losses that are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of September 30, 2024. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by
a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its
principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management
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necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of September 30, 2024, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2024 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II: OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we have been and may be involved in various legal proceedings and claims arising in our ordinary course of business. See Note 11.
Commitments and Contingencies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further details regarding legal proceedings.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes in our risk factors from those disclosed in Part I, Item 1A, under the heading “Risk Factors” in our 2023 Annual
Report.

Item 5. Other Information

Other than as set forth below, during the three months ended September 30, 2024, none of the Company’s directors or
officers adopted or terminated any purported Rule 10b5-1 plans and/or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements,” as defined under applicable law.

During the three months ended September 30, 2024, two of the Company’s officers adopted the stock trading plans described below:

Name and Title
Character of Trading
Arrangement Date Adopted

Duration of Trading
Arrangement

Aggregate Number of
Shares of Common

Stock to be Sold Pursuant to Trading
Arrangement

Michael Adler
EVP, Chief Technology and
Product Officer

Rule 10b5-1
Trading Arrangement

August 27, 2024 Until August 22, 2025 183,944

Kathleen Pai
EVP, Chief People Officer

Rule 10b5-1
Trading Arrangement

August 13, 2024 Until April 28, 2025 86,055

_____________

(1) Trading arrangements characterized as a “Rule 10b5-1 Trading Arrangement” are intended to satisfy the affirmative defense of Rule 10b5-1(c), as amended (the
“Rule”) and only permits transactions upon expiration of the applicable mandatory cooling-off period under the Rule.

(2) The trading arrangement permits transactions through and including the earlier to occur of (a) the completion of all sales or (b) the date listed in the table.

1 2
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Item 6. Exhibits

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number Exhibit Title

2.1 Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated as of July 16, 2021, by and between SolarWinds Corporation and N-able,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July
20, 2021).

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of N-able, Inc., dated as of July 16, 2021 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 20, 2021).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of N-able, Inc., dated as of July 16, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 20, 2021).

4.1 Stockholders' Agreement, dated as of July 19, 2021, by and among N-able, Inc. and the stockholders' named therein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 20,
2021).

4.2 First Amendment to Stockholders' Agreement among the Company and the stockholders named therein, dated December
13, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission
on December 15, 2021).

4.3 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 19, 2021, by and among N-able, Inc. and the stockholders' named therein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 20,
2021).

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1** Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101* Interactive Data Files (formatted as Inline XBRL)

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - The instance document does not appear in the interactive data file because its XBRL
tags are embedded within the inline XBRL document.

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

* Filed herewith

** The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 accompanying this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, are deemed furnished and not filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Registrant under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing
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N-able, Inc.

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

N-able, Inc.

Dated: November 7, 2024 By: /s/ Tim O'Brien

Tim O'Brien

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John Pagliuca, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of N-able, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Dated: November 7, 2024 By: /s/ John Pagliuca

John Pagliuca

President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Tim O’Brien, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of N-able, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Dated: November 7, 2024 By: /s/ Tim O'Brien

Tim O'Brien

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



 

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of N-able, Inc. for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned officers of N-able, Inc. hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
and the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of N-able, Inc. as of and for the period
covered by the Report.

Dated: November 7, 2024 By: /s/ John Pagliuca

John Pagliuca

President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: November 7, 2024 By: /s/ Tim O'Brien

Tim O'Brien

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350. It is not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, and it is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.


